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LOWER EASTERN SHORE FIELD OFFICE 

Threatened Sites Survey – Final Report – FY 2018-19 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   
 
In 2017, the Maryland General Assembly re-funded the Maryland Historical Trust’s non-capital  
grant fund, which resulted in the creation of the Lower Eastern Shore Field Office in a first year of 
financial support for a Threatened Sites Survey project in fiscal year 2018-19.  Designed in a multi-
phase format, the Threatened Sites Survey focuses on the documentation of endangered sites in a 
four-county region including Somerset, Dorchester, Worcester and Wicomico counties on the 
Eastern Shore.  Varoius external and internal threats have been identified that endanger historic 
properties and the valuable cultural information that they represent.  Threats to rural sites in 
agricultural, urban, town and village settings include but are not limited to demolition by neglect, 
sterlization of historic interiors and exteriors for various reasons, consolidation of  agricultural farm 
acreages and abandonment of  small farmsteads as well as gradual shoreline erosion and potential sea-
level rise in vulnerable areas, particularly in Somerset and Dorchester counties.   
 
 Sponsored locally by the Somerset County Historical Trust, Inc., the Threatened Sites Survey 
identified potential properties in Somerset and Dorcheter counties where many of  these threats are 
clearly apparent.  Targeted areas in each county included the Mount Vernon peninsula and Smith 
Island in Somerset and Elliott’s Island the Neck District in Dorchester.  The project design also 
included singular sites that were identified by Maryland Historical Trust staff or the principal 
investigaor, Paul Baker Touart, as worthy of documentation.  The resulting documentation will be 
held in hard-copy and electronic formats at the Maryland Historical Trust library in Crownsville, 
Maryland. 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The revived Maryland Historical Trust non-capital grant program has fostered a new wave of   
documention of historic resources on the lower Eastern Shore.  The sites included in this phase of  
work include sites that have never been documented as well as others that have not had significant 
evaluation and research since the 1970s. The one-year term contract was extended in the fall of 2019 with a 
completion of  all project work set for February 2020.  Over the term of  the project field survey that began 
in late 2018 and continued through half of 2019, fifty (50) sites were documented; twenty-six (26) in 
Dorchester County and twenty-four (24) in Somerset. The survey information is being gathered principally 
for documentary reasons as well as for the enhancement of interpretations and awareness of the significance 
of the historic buildings that define the cultural landscapes of  Somerset and Dorchester counties. Two sites, 
the Bayly house and Appleby in Cambridge, were awarded extra time in detailing their architectural and 
historical backgrounds due to the tremendous significance of each site.   
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RESEARCH DESIGN   
 
The principal goals of the Threatened Sites Survey in Somerset and Dorchester counties involved the 
historic site documentation and research on fifty (50) sites in accordance with the Secretary of Interior’s 
Standards and Guidelines for Archaeology and Historic Preservation.  As well the Standards and Guidelines for 
Architectural and Historical Investigations in Maryland (2000) was implemented in the field research and 
documentation of the historic resources within various cultural landscapes.  The survey data is being 
gathered purposely to enhance the knowledge, awareness and preservation of historic structures in the 
targeted areas.  Through the efforts of comprehensive survey of a region’s rural districts, towns and villages, 
more specific and up-to-date information will be made available to the owners of these sites as well as the 
general public, local, state and federal officials who make use of  this information for various purposes.  
While the purpose of the project is largely documentary, preservation-related activities, such as future 
National Register nominations or the creation of historic district zoning ordinances, are potential by-
products of these surveys.   
 

 
Figure 2, Cultural and agrarian landscape of Back Creek in Somerset County, Maryland. Aerial photograph 
by High Camera, 2013.  
 

-METHODOLOGY  
 
The methodology employed for the field survey in Dorchester and Somerset counties follows along 
the standards acceptable to the Maryland Historical Trust and the Department of Interior.  Starting 
with existing site forms and information gathered over the past forty years of fieldwork, chosen sites 
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were investigated and explored through architectural and historical analysis resulting in up-to-date 
information on former and new sites included in the 50-site form quota established in a modification 
to the contract in the spring of 2019. Many sites previously located by past surveyors are no longer 
standing, and a sizable number have been radically altered with modern additions and replacement 
synthetic materials that have rendered them no longer worthy of the time and effort to document 
them.  Out of the 50-site form quota, there were twenty-six (26) sites documented in Dorchester 
County; eleven (11) existing sites and fifteen (15) new sites.  In Somerset, twenty-four (24) new sites 
were added to the Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties.   
 
 According to the contract specifications, site forms were completed on all fifty (50) sites 
with forms varying in length and complexity from 8-10 pages to over 40 pages of architectural 
descriptions, historical significance and context statements as well as property research.  Interviews 
with owners and interested local residents were conducted throughout the course of the project.  An 
important relationship with the Dorchester County Historical Society was re-established in this first 
year of funding and contacts were re-established at the Edward H. Nabb Research Center for 
Delmarva History & Culture as well as other research facilities.  Primary research was accomplished 
in the Dorchester and Somerset County courthouses as well as local libraries as well as Internet-
based sources such as Ancestry.com and Find-A-Grave.com. Available secondary sources were 
consulted where appropriate.  Transcription research files begun during the early 2000s have been 
expanded  as information is gathered throughout the term of the project with a final goal to publish 
an architectural/historical narrative for Dorchester and Somerset counties that would augment 
previous publications.   
 
 Field research concentrated on several specific areas in Somerset and Dorchester counties 
previously unrecorded or only canvased in a cursory manner during the 1970s.  In Somerset County, 
the western end of the Mt. Vernon peninsula and the villages of Ewell, Rhodes Point and Tylerton 
were canvassed for sites worthy of inclusion on the Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties.  The 
Dorchester County Neck District west of Cambridge was the principal focus at the outset of the 
project as well as two specific sites in the City of Cambridge, the Bayly House (D-10) and Appleby 
(D-130).  During the course of the survey a few extra sites in the City of Cambridge as well as in the 
Linkwood Election District were added to group of targeted sites for documentation and research.  
Existing sites on the Maryland Inventory were expanded in terms or architectural description, 
historic context and historic significance, and in many cases involving re-interpretations of standing 
architectural histories.   
 
 
  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



7 
 

 

            
              Figure 3, John Ogilby, Noua Terrae-Mariae tabula, 1671, William T. Snyder Collection, 
              MdHR G 1213-367. 

 

Historic and Architectural Contexts 
 
Exploration and Settlement of the Lower Eastern Shore   1524-1750 
 
During the early to mid-17th century, Anglo-American explorers and settlers arrived in the 
Chesapeake region, establishing trading posts and plantations, first in the Virginia colony at 
Jamestown and across the bay at the foot of what later became known as the Delmarva peninsula.  
Within a few decades trading posts and plantations were established north of the Virginia colony in 
what was declared the Maryland colony in 1632.  On the Eastern Shore, at a place known as Kent 
Island, a trading post was established in 1631.  Traders and trappers traversed the entire region, 
making periodic visits in many of the bays protected tributaries; trading with the native residents.  In 
a testimony by Virginian John Westlock in 1670, he declared his experience and contact with native 
Americans on a “pointe of a forke where I traded…fifty years ago,” a place in later-day Somerset 
County on a point of land bounded by the Manokin River and King’s Creek.  Over the course of the 
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mid-17th century, counties were established in the Maryland colony; Kent County by 1642, and 
several Western Shore counties during the 1650s.  
 
 Prior to 1660, no counties had been established on the lower Eastern Shore, however events 
soon followed that led to the creation of  Somerset County in 1666 and Dorchester County by 1669. 
When initially created, Somerset County encompassed a vast territory that stretched from the 
Chesapeake Bay to the Atlantic Ocean, from the Virginia/Maryland border—a location under 
dispute—on the south to the Nanticoke River on the northwest and to contested territory on the 
northeast where the Dutch had claimed ownership of plantations dating back to the 1630s.  In 
Dorchester County, established by 1669, its jurisdictions were thought to stretch from the bay to the 
ocean as depicted on some maps of the period.  The new Maryland counties on the lower Shore 
overlapped huge swaths of territory claimed by native Americans, who, over the course of the 17th 
and early-to-mid 18th centuries were relegated to circumscribed reservations.  The native American 
presence ultimately lasted longest in Dorchester County along the Choptank and Nanticoke river 
drainages.   
 

                         
                         Figure 4, Augustine Herrman, detail, Virginia and Maryland, 1670, Library of Congress. 
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 During the mid-to-late 17th century, there was virtual land rush to patent land in the newly 
created counties on the lower Eastern Shore, and actions were taken by the Maryland proprietors to 
subjugate any settlers who did not claim allegiance to the Calvert family.  The Eastern Shore’s 
plentiful rivers and creeks emptying into the Chesapeake provided easy access to the best drained 
and most fertile tracts along the Manokin, Wicomico, Annemessex, Monie, and Pocomoke river and 
creek drainages in Somerset as well as the Choptank, Little Choptank and Nanticoke river drainages 
in Dorchester.  By the time Augustine Herrman assembled his comprehensive map, Maryland and 
Virginia, in 1670, he designated the location of scores of settlers’ plantations along the tributaries of 
the Chesapeake.  He also designated the presence of native American villages (See Figure 4).  Place 
names such as Manokin, Somerset Town, Watkins Point, Stevens’ “Rehobeth,” Damned Quarter 
and Dividing Creek define specific places in Somerset County. In Dorchester familiar place names 
include the Choptanck and Transquakin rivers, Cooks Point, “Tobaco Stoks,” and Trips Bay. Clearly 
designated on the north side of the Nanticoke River is the Indian village of “Chicocoan” and on the 
south side of the Choptank River several emblems of native American lodges accompany the phrase 
“Indian Towns.”     
 

 The region’s numerous navigable rivers and creeks sponsored investments in private 
plantations throughout the region from which trade was executed in and out of the Chesapeake and 
beyond.  In an effort to control trade and benefit from it, the provincial government of Maryland 
ordered the establishment of towns and ports of entry in various places throughout the province in 
an effort to monitor the import and export of goods and merchandise.  Several provincial acts 
during the 17th and early 18th centuries established ports on the lower Eastern Shore.  In Somerset 
County, the port locations on the Pocomoke river—Snow Hill and Rehoboth—were created by 
provincial legislative authority in 1683, and have lasted as places to modern times.  In Dorchester 
County, the earliest effort to establish a port on the southern shore of the Choptank dates to 1684 
on the land of Daniel Jones, property then simultaneously claimed by the Choptank Indians.1   
Despite the conflict of an Anglo-American patents and native American occupation, the town of 
Cambridge was established in 1684 with events in motion to relocate the county seat of Dorchester 
to this newly created port.  Within the following two years, a motion by the Dorchester County 
commissioners authorized Captain Anthony Dawson to procure the materials and craftsmen 
necessary to erect a courthouse in the new town.2   Entered into a land record was the size and 
configuration of the contracted public building: 
 
 “the said Anthony Dawson…shall and will…Build Erect and Accomplish a Court house for ye use of said 
 County  of  Dorchester att the town of  Cambridge according to ye Dementions hereinafter and herein…that 
 is to say the Court house to be built and erected fourty feet in length and twenty four in Breadth the two 
 floors above and below to be laid with Plank and four large Windows below and one small Closett Window, 
 with two large Casements to each window and two large transom Windows above an one at each and the 
 Chambers to be sealed with rived Boards one large pair of Stairs with rails and Banisters, Inclosure for ye 
 Staires and Closett, One large table enclosed with rails and bannisters and seats…, likewise Seats for the 
 Justices and with a Judges Chair going up two or three ft…ye sides of the house up to the plate to be lathed 

 
1 Joseph Brown Thomas, Jr. Settlement, Community, and Economy: The Development of Town’s on Maryland’s Lower Eastern Shore, 1660-
1775, Ph.d. Dissertation, University of Maryland, 1994, pp. 142-168.   
2 Dorchester County Land Record, Old 1/148-49, 12.16.1686/7, Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, Maryland.  
This first courthouse was located near the present-day intersection of High and Race streets on the north side of High.  
A second and third courthouse were erected on the south side of  High; the first during the early 18th century and a 
second brick courthouse in 1771-73 in the general proximity of the current courthouse erected in 1853.   
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 and Plaistered with a large Porch att ye end of the house with rails and Bannisters about it likewise all 
 Glaziers Work, Carpenters Works, Smiths Work and Painters Work whatsoever as shall be ye 
 Judgement of  Workmen adjudged necessary or convenient for said Building and the said Captain Anthony 
 Dawson  find himself Provision Timber and Nailes and all materials for ye said Building… 
 
While Captain Dawson did not live up to the terms of the contract and left the region, the frame 
courthouse was erected by an unknown contractor, most likely in the same form and finish as that 
prescribed in 1686.3  Next to the 17th-century courthouse was the market square and next to it 
towards the river was the land set aside for the Great Choptank Parish church.   
 
 A second town in Dorchester created by Maryland provincial authority—named Vienna—
was established on an elevated plain on the north side of the Nanticoke in 1706.  Other speculative 
towns were created in Dorchester during the period but did not materialize into active places for 
long-term trade occupation.  
 
 During the second quarter of the 18th century in Somerset County, Salisbury Town and 
Princess Anne Town were laid out at the heads of the Wicomico and Manokin rivers, respectively.  
In 1742, Somerset County was divided in half with Worcester County stretching along the seaboard 
coast.  Princess Anne Town was named the county seat for Somerset and Snow Hill the location for 
the Worcester County court.   
 
 Settlement and development of the lower Eastern Shore spread thinly over Somerset and 
Dorchester counties during the early to mid-18th century with a concentration on plantation 
agriculture.  There was a principal focus on tobacco as a cash crop, but planters grew substantial 
amounts of Indian corn and wheat for subsistence and profit.  Tremendous native forests were 
slowly cleared to open up arable fields, and wood species such as yellow pine, cypress, yellow poplar 
and oak were used on the construction of early plantation dwellings, farm buildings, outbuildings, 
churches, stores and a wide variety of bay- or ocean-bound vessels.   
 
   
BEFORE AND AFTER THE REVOLUTION 1750-1825 
 
 
Aside from a handful of county seats and small villages spotted across the lower Eastern Shore by 
the mid-18th century, the population—free, indentured or slave—was spread over a largely forested 
landscape with intermittent clearings of arable land for field crops.  In 1755 the population was 
mixed with a majority of white heads of Dorchester households and their families numbering 8,138. 
At the time there were 77 free blacks and 2,635 slaves.  During the second quarter of the 18th 
century, the Somerset population had grown to 12,100 inhabitants, free white and black as well as 
indentured and slave—white, black, or mulatto.  By 1755, after the formation of Worcester County 
in 1742, the population of the two counties had swelled to nearly 19,000 residents, 13,000 of whom 
were white, 243 were free black or mulattos, and nearly 5,000 were black or mulatto slaves.  By the 
mid-18th century the indentured servant population had dwindled to a relative few.   
  
 By the mid-18th century, plantation agriculture in the Eastern Shore counties was shifting at 
different rates from a central focus on tobacco as a cash crop to one based on cereal grains of corn 

 
3 Thomas, p. 143. 
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and wheat and other grasses.  While the mid-Shore turned to corn and wheat by mid-century, 
planters in Somerset County were still harvesting substantial amounts of tobacco during the third 
and fourth quarters of the 18th century. Virgin stands of native woods, yellow pine, oak, yellow 
poplar, etc. were harvested and marketed for the general population as well as for export within the 
Chesapeake region and beyond.  Over the course of the mid-to-late 18th century, the population on 
the lower Shore increased gradually.  With the population growth and a stable market economy in 
tobacco, corn, wheat and timber products, a host of small crossroads villages and communities 
developed across the lower Eastern Shore to serve the dispersed rural populace.  
 
 As reflected in the most detailed and accurate delineation of Maryland places and roads until 
that time, mapmaker Dennis Griffith documented in amazing detail the nature of the state in the last 
decade of the 18th century.  A system of roads was clearly in place that connected county seats with 
rural villages and crossroads communities that were defined by churches, meeting houses, taverns, 
mill seats or stores (See Figure 5).   
 
 The Dorchester County seat of Cambridge grew slowly after its formation with the 
development of the river and creek frontages and lots bordering the main street (High Street) where 
the courthouse, Anglican Church, and market square were located.  Private dwellings, of frame and 
brick construction, were combined with merchant stores and other shops as well as a town tavern or 
two.  A second principal avenue known as Wood Street (later Race Street) extended in a southerly 
direction along the high land with the creek on its eastern flank. The fertile lands surrounding the 
county seat, in part owned by the local Choptank Indians, was settled and improved by a generation 
of Anglo-American planters and their descendants.  
  

                     
                        Figure 5, Dennis Griffith, Map of Maryland, 1794 [1795], Maryland State Law Library,  
           MdHR 1213-356. 
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 The decades bracketing the American Revolution were particularly active in and around 
Cambridge. On the south side of the county seat, a recent emigrant from Westmoreland County, 
England assembled a large plantation of contiguous tracts during the 1760s and 1770s.  
Merchant/planter Robert Harrison (1740-1802) financed construction of a substantial Georgian 
brick and frame house on land known as “Howell’s Regulation,” a plantation he named Appleby to 
honor the town of his birth in England.  The two-story, four-room plan frame house was built 
around 1765-70 with brick end walls and framed front and rear walls and was covered with a hybrid 
form jerkinhead roof (See D-130).  The third quarter of the 18th-century house was finished with 
Georgian style raised-panel woodwork, some of which survives in the second floor chambers.  
 

 
Figure 6, Appleby, southwest chamber end wall paneling,  
Paul B. Touart, photographer, 12.13.18. 

 
 During the same time, Colonel Robert Harrison served as one of the commissioners charged 
with supervising the construction of the third courthouse, a brick structure, in Cambridge in 1770-
73.  Governor Robert Eden directed that 200,000 pounds of tobacco to be levied in three annual 
assessments for the purpose.  Charles Dickenson, William Ennalls, Robert Harrison, and John 
Goldsborough, Jr. were entrusted with the responsibility “to contract undertakers, or with workmen, 
for the building of a new court-house.”4  The legislative act also stated that: 
 
 So soon as this court-house shall be completed, the clerk is to remove, to a convenient apartment therein to be 
 provided  for the purpose, all the books, rolls, papers and records, a list of which, at the direction of the 
 justices, he is to make out, sign and enter upon record amongst the proceedings of the court. The justices are 
 then to sell, at public vendue, for ready money, all the materials of the old court-house; and the money arising 
 from the sale, with the surplus of the aforesaid levy, to be applied to the use of the county. 
 
In a subsequent act, the Dorchester justices were authorized to, 
 
 Remove the books, papers and records of the court, form the old house to some house in Cambridge, to be 
 provided by the justices, who are authorised to pull down the old court-house, to sell its materials, and to agree 
 for a convenient place to hold their courts, until the new house shall be completed.  As the public ground, on 
 which the old court house stands, is too small, they are to assess the quantity of 18,000 lb. of tobacco, to be 

 
4 Archives of Maryland Online, Hanson’s Laws of Maryland, 1763-1784, Volume 203, Page 47, Maryland State 
Archives.  
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 paid to the order of the commissioners under the act of September 1770, ch. 13.  These commissioners are 
 empowered to cause the surveyor to lay off, by boundaries, 30 feet in front and 45 feet in depth of a lot 
 adjoining the public ground, belonging to Henry Ennalls, an infant.5 
 
 Robert Harrison arrived in Dorchester County during the early to mid-1760s following 
another influential Cambridge merchant and attorney named John Caile.   John Caile (1720-1767) 
surfaces in the Choptank River region as an agent for the Liverpool firm of Foster, Cunliffe & Co.  
He appears first in the Dorchester County land records as a young merchant of Oxford, in Talbot 
County, and as a legal representative for James Gildart, another merchant from Liverpool.6 In 
1744, he acquired part of “Ennall’s Purchase,” property located on the Choptank River.  Two years 
later, he is appointed clerk of the Dorcheter County Court, a position he would hold until 1767.7  In 
July 1750, he negotiated a lease with the rector and vestryman of Great Choptank Parish for a 1 ½-
acre parcel located between the vestry-owned land “impailed for a Church Yard” on the southwest 
and the improved property owned by Dr. William Murray, “near the place where his Store now 
stands.”8  A condition of the lease stated: 
 
 …that in all Houses Edifices and building hereafter to be built by the said John Caile…shall be built brick 
 or stone  Chimneys and that no fire shall be kept or made in any wooden Chimney on any part of the 
 premises… 
 
 While long-standing oral tradition holds that John Caile improved the property shortly after 
his 1750 purchase, the historic record does not say what he did with the lot after his purchase or 
where he lived at the time.  The historic record does imply that the church-owned land remained 
unimproved until the 1760s.  In 1758, John Caile conveyed the lease for the church property to his 
brother, Hall Caile, with the same caveat that any building erected on the acre-and-a-half lot had to 
have a brick or stone chimney.9  In 1761, Hall Caile died, and he was buried in the adjacent Anglican 
church cemetery.   
 
 Following Hall Caile’s death, the property reverted back to merchant and attorney John 
Caile, who by the early 1760s was trading as John Caile & Co.  In March 1763, John Caile acquired a 
lease to the property of Dr. William Murray immediately adjacent on its northeast side to the church 
land he was leasing from Great Choptank Parish.10  A stipulation in the Murray/Caile lease obligated 
John Caile to the following: 
 
 …promise and agree to erect and build in an upon the same parcel of Land one Dwelling house—twenty 
 Eight feet square or to contain as great or greater number of square feet the Walls thereof to be of Brick one 

 
5 Archives of Maryland Online, Hanson’s Laws of Maryland, 1763-1784, Volume 203, page 57, Maryland State 
Archives. 
6 Dorchester County Land Record, Old 10/227-28, June 24, 1742, Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, 
Maryland. 
7 Maryland State Archives Online, msa.maryland.gov.  
8 Dorchester County Land Record, Lease, Old 14/426, July 3, 1750, Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, 
Maryland. 
9 Dorchester County Land Record, Old 16/74, August 12, 1758, Dorchester County Courhtouse, Cambridge, 

Maryland. 
10 Dorchester County Land Record, Old 18/360, March 15, 1763, Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, 
Maryland. 
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 Story high with a Cellar under the same the walls thereof to be of Brick or Stone to be finished and completed 
 in a Substantial manner and also one Kitchen the walls to be of brick and to be finished as aforesaid… 
 
 Within the year, merchant John Caile financed construction of a 1 ½-story, four-room plan 
brick house on a raised foundation of Flemish bond walls (See D-136).  It is apparent that during 
the same few years he also improved the lot next door with commercial buildings including a frame 
storehouse, warehouse and stable, which may have included the Murray store building referenced in 
the 1750 Caile lease from the Great Choptank Parish.   
 

 
Figure 7, Caile House, 205 High Street, Cambridge, photographer, Paul B. Touart,  
4.15.2019. 
 

 All of John Caile’s Cambridge property was described and valued in 1771,11 four years 
following his death in 1767. The resulting court-ordered description of the property was created for 
the benefit of John Caile’s heir, a nephew, John Hall Caile, a minor at the time of his uncle’s death.  
Under the care of his mother, Elizabeth, John Hall Caile was to receive any income from the 
property for his education.  The property description documented the improvements on both Caile-
owned and leased lots. 
 
 On the Murray-leased lot the buildings were described as,  
 
 …one Bricked Dwelling House thirty seven feet four inches Front and thirty feet with four Rooms on the first 
 Flour and four Above with Good Cellars underneath covered with Cypress Shingles one Framed Kitchen 
 twenty feet long and sixteen feet wide with a Bricked Chimney covered with Shingles and Weatherboarded with 
 Pine Plank, One  Sawed Logged Smoak House Fifteen feet square covered with Shingles, One office House, 
 all in good repair… 
 
 On the adjacent church-owned leased lot, the officers of the Dorchester Court found: 
 
 …one Store House Twenty six feet square covered with Shingles and weatherboarded with pine Pine 

 
11 Dorchester County Land Record, Old 25/132-35, October 12, 1771, Dorchester County Courthouse, 
Cambridge, Maryland. 
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 Plank with three apartments in it and one small Bricked Chimney one Room above with Plank Floor 
 One Granary Twenty six feet square covered with Shingles and Weatherboard’d with Pine Plank with  
 two apartments a Planked Loft and two Sheds to said Granary each about ten feet in Width and  
 covered with Shingles, one Logged Stable sixteen feet square covered with Clapboards all in good repair… 
 
The church-owned leased land, improved by a mixture of commercial and agricultural buildings, also 
included a pailed garden measuring 175’ by 51’ and it was enclosed by sawn pine pailing, supported 
by posts and rails and accessed by four gates.  As indicated by the 1771 Orphan’s Court description, 
there was no dwelling on the property at the time.12   
 
 John Hall Caile, living under the care of his mother, achieved his majority and held title to 
the Cambridge lots and buildings.  However, John Hall Caile died prematurely at age 22 in February 
1783.  In the same year, Elizabeth Caile was recorded as the owner of the two leased lots when the 
1783 Federal tax was levied.  In addition she owned a 132 ½-acre plantation “Hambrooks” located 
on the periphery of Cambridge on the Choptank River.13 The assessment documented the former 
Murray-owned lot with “1 Brick Dwelling, 1 Fram’d Kitchen, and 1 Small house” whereas the 
vestry-leased lot was improved with “1 Framed Storehouse, 1 Warehouse, and 1 Stable.”   
 
 Evidently Elizabeth Caile financed construction of the 2 ½-story, four-bay frame structure 
on the vestry-owned lot within the next few years.14  She retained title to the Caile family properties 
in Cambridge until the mid-1790s; she executed a release by means of a quitclaim deed on the 
vestry-leased land for L50 in October 1794.15  In the following year she sold the 2 ½-story frame 
house and attendant outbuildings to Charles K. Bryan for L110 in October 1795.16  In the same year 
Elizabeth Caile sold the 1 ½-story house to Daniel Sullivane, Jr. for $1,000, a sum that well reflects 
its highly improved character at the time17 (See Figure 8). 
 
 By the third quarter of the 18th century, the county seat of Cambridge had developed into a 
sizable town with several hundred residents, white, free black or enslaved.  A new courthouse, built 
in 1771-73, stood in the center of the town with the Anglican church of Great Choptank Parish 
across the street along with a market square.  The 1783 Federal tax assessment documented a 
landscape of brick, frame and log dwellings and a wide range of attendant outbuildings of brick, 
frame or log wall construction as well as enclosed gardens, most likely associated with every 
residence.18  A detailed description of one Cambridge property was written and recorded as part of    
 

 
12 Michael J. Worthington and Jane I . Seiter, “The Tree-Ring Dating of the Bayly House and Outbuildings, Cambridge, 
Maryland,” Oxford Tree-Ring Laboratory, Baltimore, Maryland. 
13 Federal Tax Assessment of  1783, Dorchester County, Listing for Elizabeth Cail.   
14 Worthington and Seiter.  
15 Dorchester County Land Record, HD 6/609, October 14, 1794, Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, 
Maryland. 
16 Dorchester County Land Record, HD 9/13, October 12, 1795, Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, 
Maryland. 
17 Dorchester County Land Record, HD 8/503, HD 8/503, May 18, 1795, Dorchester County Courthouse, 

Cambridge, Maryland. 
18 The Federal Tax Assessment of  1783 recorded six (6) brick houses, seventeen (17) frame houses, five (5) log 
houses, and two (2) houses of undetermined construction.  The brick dwellings were listed under the 
assessments for Robert Ewing, Robert Harrison, Dr. Henry Murray, Adam Muir and Archibald Pattison. 
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Figure 8, Caile and Bayly houses, High Street, Cambridge, Maryland, Paul B.  
Touart, photographer, 4.15.2019, The portion of the Bayly house built by  
Elizabeth Caile around 1785 is fronted by the two-story porch and located 
between the two brick chimneys. 

 
 
 
the court ordered evaluation of the property belonging to orphan Mary Nevett, daughter of John 
Rider Nevitt (1747-1772) and grand-daughter of Major Thomas Nevitt (1685-1749), who had a 
principal role in Cambridge’s early development.19  The officers of the Dorchester court stated, 
 

...we do estimate the Lots of land in the Town afsd…at the annual gross value of Twelve Pounds current 
Money of  Maryland—And we do further certify that there on the said Lots one framed Dwelling House 
thirty feet square,  Weather Boarded with Planks, covered with short round Shingles, Plank floors above & 
below, three rooms & a stair case below, three rooms & a passage above, the whole of the inside of the House 
Plaistered, three Brick chimneys & a cellar under the House which is not half finished, the roof very 
indifferent & leaky & must be covered again, the rest of the House in tolerable good repair, one old  framed 
& clapboard kitchen with a bad brick chimney the whole scarcely worth noticing, one old House about Thirty 
by sixteen feet, framed work Boarded with Featheredge Plank & covered with short round  shingles & one 
Brick end & chimney, the wooden work in very bad order & not worth Repairing—A garden about one 
hundred & twenty feet square paled with rove pine pales, in but different repair… 

 
Mary Nevitt’s inherited lots in Cambridge were probably located on “Nevitt’s Double Purchase,” 
land that was considered part of the town located to the southwest along High Street.  The 
description implies that the Nevitt house was a four-room plan structure supported on a raised brick 
foundation, not unlike the original floor plan of the Harrison house at Appleby.  The mention of  
the “clapboard” covered kitchen refers to the 3’-4’ long riven boards used pervasively during the 17th 
and early to mid-18th centuries for siding, roof sheathing, and interior ceilings and partitions 
(See Figure 9). 

 
19 Dorchester County Land Record, Old 27/426, March 6, 1775, Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, 
Maryland. 
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Figure 9, Appleby, underside of clapboarded 
enclosure, Paul B. Touart, photographer, 12.13.2018. 

 
By record of the Dorchester Orphan’s Court and the Federal tax assessment, by the time of the  
American Revolution, Cambridge had town into a significant commercial and population center,  
eventually eclipsing Oxford in Talbot County as the principal port within the Choptank river drainage.  
 
 During the same period, the Somerset County population had topped 12,000 inhabitants,  
free white and black, as well as indentured and slave—white, black or mulatto.  The population was  
spread over a largely forested landscape with clearings of arable land for fields of tobacco, corn,  
wheat and other crops.  The landscape was also comprised of significant stands of virgin timber and  
stretches of tidal marsh bordering many tributaries of the Chesapeake.  Bounded by the two  
Chesapeake tributaries, the Mt. Vernon peninsula, known during the 18th and 19th centuries as  
Hungary Neck, was patented and settled during the mid-to-late 17th century; a tract at the end of the  
peninsula known as “Hazard” dated to 1664.20  Another patent, “Covington’s Meadow,” dates to  
1699, and it is more centrally located several miles inland on the north side of Big Monie Creek.  A 
 road traversing the high ground through the center of  the peninsula provided access to deep water  
anchorage and a shipping point on the Wicomico River.  In addition to plantations and farms and a  

 
20 Ruth T. Dryden, Land Records of Somerset County, Maryland, privately printed. 
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few mill seats were established set up on feeder streams of the Wicomico, the peninsula was defined  
by smaller farms and developed house sites only accessible by water until the mid-to-late 19th  
century.   
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                    Figure 10, Martenet’s Map of Somerset County, 1866, (courtesy of the  
          Maryland State Archives) Special Collections (Maps) 286, MdHR 1427, 005/1/2. 

 
 
GROWTH AND CHANGE IN SOCIETY, AGRICULTURE & INDUSTRY  1825-1900 
 
During the second and third quarters of the 19th century, agricultural pursuits in Dorchester and 
Somerset counties shifted from a plantation agriculture centered largely on a cash crop of tobacco to 
one concentrated on corn and wheat and other grains.  Farming on the lower Eastern Shore 
embraced a range of small vegetables, such as peas and beans, Irish and sweet potatoes, as well as a 
range of fruits for local consumption and export.  Concurrent with the changing nature of field 



20 
 

crops and the growth of  fruit trees across the lower Shore, there were pivotal inventions in the 
canning of local shellfish, principally oysters that were harvested from the Chesapeake Bay waters.   
 
 By the early to mid -19th century, vast technological changes were underway that would alter 
life on the lower Eastern Shore in distinct ways architecturally and historically.  Principal among 
them was the introduction of steam generated power; applied relatively early in Somerset County 
with the construction of  a steam mill on the Manokin River by Littleton Dennis Teackle in 1815. 
Another early application of steam power was the construction of the steamboat Chesapeake by 
Captain Edward Trippe (1771-1846) of Trippe’s Regulation farm in Dorchester County.21 Trippe 
convinced two friends, William McDonald and Andrew Henderson, to advance capital for the 
construction of the steam vessel, which made a maiden voyage from Baltimore to Annapolis in 
1813.  Within a half-dozen years the steamer Maryland was making its way between Baltimore, 
Annapolis, and Cambridge.22 
 
 The second quarter of the 19th century was a period of expanding steamboat companies and 
routes, servicing a greater number of communities within the Chesapeake on a more frequent basis. 
By the 1820s, regular seasonal service was reaching the Choptank River with the steamboat Maryland  
shuttling between Baltimore, Annapolis, and Easton by way of  Castle Haven in the Neck District of  
Dorchester County.23 In an 1849 issue of the Cambridge Democrat & Dorchester Advertiser, the steamer 
Maryland left Baltimore every Monday and Thursday morning for Annapolis, Cambridge, and 
Easton, and returned the following Tuesday or Friday, leaving Easton 
at 6 a.m.24                                                 

                                           
                                               Figure 11, Cambridge Democrat & Dorchester  
                                               Advertiser, April 25, 1849, Microfilm from the 
                                               Dorchester County Historical Society. 

 
21 Robert H. Burgess and H. Graham Wood, Steamboats Out of Baltimore, Cambridge, Maryland: Tidewater Publishers, 
1968. 
22 Ibid. p. 9.  
23 Cambridge Chronicle, September 3, 1825, Maryland State Archives. 
24 Cambridge Democrat & Dorchester Advertiser, April 25, 1849. 
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 In a similar advertisement the following September, in 1850, the steamer Gazelle, was making 
regular trips from Baltimore every Tuesday to serve the communities on the Little Choptank; 
Taylor’s Island, Tobaccostick, and Church Creek.  Another steamer, the Hugh Jenkins, was 
conducting regular visits to White Haven and Shad Point on the Wicomico in Somerset County.  
Shortly after that, Captain John H. Kirwan published a notice that his steamer, the Wilson Small, 
would traverse the length of the Wicomico River, placing the following ad in the Baltimore Sun.25 
 

                                              
                                            Figure 12, The Baltimore Sun, October 13, 1856.  
 

 The Wilson Small was one of many steamboats that plied the Wicomico River between 
Whitehaven and Salisbury, and which served other landings along the river’s shoreline.  Captain 
Kirwan surely stopped at the landing on the south side of the Wicomico downriver from 
Whitehaven where the Hungary Neck peninsula road met the water’s edge at its western terminus.  
At this location, merchant George H. Riall operated a water-front store that also served briefly as a 
post office during the early 1850s.26  As depicted by superintendent engineer A. D. Bache in the  
 

                                                                                      
Figure 13, A. D. Bache, Head of Tangier Sound including the  
                             Wicomico River Eastern Shore of the Chesapeake, detail, 1854,  
                             National Archives. 

 
25 Robert H. Burgess, This Was Chesapeake Bay, Cambridge, Maryland: Cornell Maritime Press, 1963, p. 85. 
26 Appointments of U.S. Postmasters, 1832-1971, National Archives via Ancestry.com.   
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coastal survey of the Wicomico River and Monie Bay, the county road snaked down the length of 
the Hungary Neck peninsula ending at a landing on the Wicomico River where Riall’s Store was  
located (See Figure 13).  The store location, known as “California” under Riall’s proprietorship, 
continued as such under a subsequent owner, Joseph S. Webster, during the 1870s.  When the Lake, 
Griffing and Stevenson atlas published their selection of Somerset County election districts, the 
Hungary Neck District was much more populated than in 1854 with residences, churches and other 
buildings defining what had been recently labeled the Mt. Vernon post office.          
  

 
Figure 14, Lake, Griffing and Stevenson, Hungary Neck District No. 5, 1877, reprinted 1976.  J. S. Webster’s 
residence and “California” store are located at the water’s edge on the northeast side of the county road where it 
meets the river. 

 
 By the time Lake, Griffing, and Stevenson atlas published their district map of Hungary 
Neck in 1877 many improvements and additional developments had taken place during the twenty-
three years spanning the publication of the coastal survey (1854) and the atlas.  By the 1870s a road 
had been extended down to the tip of the peninsula and many additional properties had been 
improved with a new generation of houses, especially on small sized acreages bordering the county 
road.  An increased population on Hungary Neck was surely due to improved transportation on land 
as well as water (See Figure 14).  
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 The western end of the Hungary Neck peninsula was home to a large number of watermen 
and farmers who organized a Methodist Episcopal congregation around 1870 when a group of 
trustees planned on building a church on top of an elevated sandy knoll on the north side of the 
county road.  In 1870-72, a single story 40’ by 30’ frame church with three nine-over-nine sash 
windows on each side provided a house of worship that lasted until a new church was erected in 
1896-97 (See Figure 15).      
  

 
Figure 15, Asbury M. E. Church, documentary  
photograph c. 1900-20. 
 

 
Figure 16, John B. Horner house, Mt. Vernon, southwest elevation,  
Paul B. Touart, photographer, 2018.  



24 
 

   

 The oldest housing stock to survive on the Hungary Neck peninsula dates to the third 
quarter of the 19th century. Two of the best-preserved dwellings include the John B. Horner house 
(See Figure 16) and the John H. Parks house (See Figures 17 & 18). The two-story, three-part frame 
Horner house was erected around 1850-60. Paneled corner pilasters trim a two-story, 
weatherboarded one-room plan main block, which is extended on its north gable end with a story-
and-a-half wing. A semi-detached one-room plan kitchen is located to the east of the story-and-a-
half wing and is joined by a framed curtain wall on its north side and an open porch on its south 
side.  The Horner house marks a transition in domestic housing at mid-century when dwellings with 
a detached kitchens were abandoned completely for those built with attached service wings; an 
architectural development that had been in process in more expensive gentry dwellings since the late 
18th century. 
  

    
Figure 17, John H. Parks House, Mt. Vernon vicinity,  
Paul B. Touart, photographer, 2.27.2018. 

 

 
Figure 18, John H. Parks House, Mt. Vernon vicinity,  
Paul B. Touart, photographer, 2.27.2018. 
 

 Also located on the Mt. Vernon peninsula is a contemporaneous house to the John B. 
Horner house. The John H. Parks house is a two-story, four-part, ell-shaped frame dwelling built on 
an elevated sandy knoll on the south shore of the Wicomico River.  The series of one-room plan 
sections was built in an ell shape with a stepped profile including a colonnade that joins the kitchen 
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to the main block.  Paneled corner pilasters trim the corners of the main block, which is served by 
exterior corbelled base chimney stacks.  The west end stack is inscribed with a date of Dec[ember] 
1861.  These mid-19th century houses followed traditional vernacular plans in a connected 
arrangement that improved the domestic function of the household. 
 
 A concurrent rebuilding of the landscape was taking place across the Eastern Shore, 
including a more remote and isolated location such as Somerset County’s Smith’s Island.  Federal 
engineers mapped Smith’s Island (1848) as part of their state survey of the bay’s water depths and     
 

                          
                         Figure 19, Smith’s Island, 1848, Coastal Survey, National Archives. 

    
coastal shorelines.  In the process the engineers were very diligent in their documentation of the 
occupied hummocks and uplands compared to surrounding marsh across the island archipelago 
dissected by tidal streams and guts. While they did not record the types of standing buildings at the 
time, the island residents occupied single or story-and-half  frame or sawn log dwellings that were 
recorded at the end of the 18th century in the 1798 Federal tax assessment.  On the land of Richard 
Evans known as parts of Pitchcroft and Seven Brothers was a 1 ½-story frame dwelling that  
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measured 24’ by 18’ and defined by six windows.  The house was accompanied by a separate frame 
kitchen, 18’ by 16’, an 8’ by 8’ milkhouse, a 14’ by 12’ smokehouse, as well as another house of 
sawed log construction measuring 14’ by 12’.27  On another part of  the Pitchcroft tract was a similar 
complex occupied by Butler Tyler, a grouping of  building located on what later became known as 
Tylerton.  The Tyler house was described as a dwelling house, 24’ by 18’, a kitchen 14’ by 12’ a milk 
house 6’ by 6’, all considered “old”.  Of the 287 acres Butler Tyler owned, the greater part was 
considered marsh.28 During the early 19th century, Tyler family owned part of the Pitchcroft tract, 
which the family renamed Black Walnut Point to differentiate it from other properties associated 
with the same patent.  Planter  Thomas Tyler improved the upland section of the property near 
Tyler Creek around 1825-30 with a two-story, side hall/parlor plan frame house finished on the 
exterior with beaded weatherboards and well-crafted cornices, cornices and bargeboards.  On the 
interior the parlor was finished with raised-panel wainscoting and a Federal style mantel framing the 
firebox (See Figures 20 and 21). 
 

 
Figure 20, Black Walnut Point, c. 1825-30, Tylerton, Smith Island, Paul B. Touart, photographer, 10.10.2018. 
 

 
 

 
27 Federal Direct Tax Assessment, Somerset County, 1798, Microfilm at the Edward H. Nabb Research 
Center for Delmarva History and Culture. 
28 Ibid. 



27 
 

   
Figure 21, Black Walnut Point, Paul Touart,  
photographer, 10.10.2018. 
 

 In the Smith Island community of Rogue’s Point, waterman Johnson Evans (1815-1897) 
financed construction of a story-and-a-half hall plan dwelling around 1840-50 and finished it inside 
with horizontal board walls and a ceiling with exposed floor joists.  During the decades that 
followed, Johnson Evans built a one-room plan kitchen on its east end, and his daughter, Priscilla S. 
Bradshaw and her husband likely financed a two-story one-room plan addition to the west gable 
end, which yielded a three-part stepped profile frame structure. 
  

 
Figure 22, Priscilla S. Bradshaw House, Rhodes Point,  
southwest elevation, Paul B. Touart, photographer, 
9.25.2018. 
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 Another house on Smith Island, the Peter J. Marshall house, was built in a connected plan 
reusing a second quarter of the 19th century two-story, one-room plan frame house and adding to 
each end around 1870-80.  The two-and-a-half story north end main block follows a popular cross-
gabled, center hall/single-pile plan that was built across the Eastern Shore during the third quarter 
of the 19th century.  In contrast to the hand-crafted character of the center section, the main block is 
reflective of the transition between age old hand-built construction practices and those of the 
machine age that accompanied the Industrial Revolution of the third quarter of the 19th century.  
The machine age features are especially evident in the identical paired brackets that trim the 
perimeter of the cross-gable roof and the factory made front and rear doors and two-over-two sash 
windows.  Attached to the south end of the center section is a two-story, one-room plan attached 
kitchen wing. 
 

 
Figure 23, Peter J. Marshall House, Tylerton, southwest elevation, Paul B. Touart,  
photographer, 9.5.2018. 
 

 The second and third quarters of the 19th century was a period of rebuilding and new 
construction across Dorchester County as the population increased only marginally from 17,759 
residents—free and enslaved—in 1820 to a total of  18,877 in 1850, with 10,747 white residents, 
3,848 free blacks, and 4,282 enslaved.29  The clear difference between the two censuses was the 
prodigious growth of the free black community in thirty years, many of whom congregated in 
segregated communities on the edges of Cambridge and other towns or in separate places across 
Dorchester County.  In Cambridge, free blacks and white residents occupied lots of varying size 
located in and around the triangle formed by High, Washington and Pine streets in what was then 
considered the periphery of the county seat.  On Pine Street, a small half-acre lot was transferred 
between Baltimore countians Daniel Johnson and John Driver, both identified as free colored men 
in the 1826 transfer.30  On nearby High Street, Hester Ann Jenifer (formerly Hester Ann Devine) 

 
29 R. S. Fisher, M.D., Gazetteer of the State of Maryland, Returns of the Seventh Census of the United States and Other 
Official Documents. New York and Baltimore: J. H. Colton and James S. Waters, 1852, pp. 68-69. 
30 Dorchester County Land Record, ER 10/432, October 7, 1826, Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, 
Maryland. 
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acquired a half-acre lot from John Bradshaw for $50, and the deed named her and her children—
Harriet, Elizabeth and Jacob Jenifer—as legal owners of the property.  Her husband, Benjamin 
Jenifer, was still a slave at the time, and so he was prevented from owning property.31  This lot was 
next to Waugh Chapel, an African-American Methodist congregation established in 1825-26 under 
the auspices of the Zion M. E. congregation, established in Cambridge in 1800.  The land between 
High and Pine streets was a mixed neighborhood of white and free black landowners.   
 
 During the second quarter of the 19th century, one of the defining structures on Pine Street, 
at its intersection with Cedar Street, was a post-supported windmill located on a 100’ by 95’ foot 
lot.32  At the southeast end of Cedar Street another windmill was situated on the high ground above 
Cambridge Creek, land that was sold by Josiah Bayly to Captain Lewis Ross in October 1854.33  The 
windmill is indicated on the High ground above the creek on the 1848 coastal survey of the 
Choptank River from Hambrook’s Point to Cabin Creek.  During the same period a third post-
supported windmill stood on the edge of the Choptank River at the northeast end of Mill Street on  
 

 
 
Figure 24, U. S. Coastal Survey, Choptank River, Maryland to Hambrook’s Point to Cabin Creek (1848) A. D. Bache, 
superintendent, National Archives, College Park, Maryland.  

 
a small three-acre parcel of “Lockerman’s Regulation” that was conveyed from Sarah Alexander to 
Loftus Kirby for $205 in 1827.34  Five years later, Loftus Kirby advertised in the Cambridge Chronicle 
for sale or rent, 
 

 
31 Dorchester County Land Record, ER 16/1837, Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, Maryland. 
32 Dorchester County Land Record, WJ 3/593, March 25, 1845, Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, 
Maryland. 
33 Dorchester County Land Record, FJH 3/9, October 17, 1854, Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, 
Maryland. 
34 Dorchester County Land Record, ER 10/480, April 20, 1827, Dorchester County Courthouse, Cambridge, 
Maryland. 
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 “A Valuable Wind Mill, in Cambridge, together with the three-acre Lot and Dwelling & c. connected 
 therewith.  There are few establishments of this kind so desirable as this, it occupies a good stand for business, is 
 convenient to market, and directly on the river, where fish, oysters and wild fowl abound in their season.”35   
 
 At mid-century, pre-industrial Cambridge, with a population around 300 white residents, was 
flanked on three sides by post-supported wind mills similar to others scattered throughout 
Dorchester County and the lower Eastern Shore, such as the one that formerly stood in the 
community of  Woolford in central Dorchester or the Spocott plantation windmill that once stood 
near the Lloyd’s village crossroads.36 
 

                          
                           Figure 25, Woolford village windmill, built during the second quarter  
                           of the 19th century, Photograph early 20th century, Collection of the  
                           Claude Brooks family. 
 

 Although the city of Cambridge was not expanded beyond its 18th century boundaries during 
the early to mid-19th century, a new generation of dwellings, outbuildings, stores, taverns, churches, 
schools and shops were erected along the principal avenues of High and Race streets as well as 

 
35 Cambridge Chronicle, June 20, 1832, Microfilm from the Maryland State Archives. 
36 The recreation of the Spocott plantation (D-58) windmill was built by Senator George L. Radcliffe, Sr. and 
now stands in a grouping of  historic buildings on the south side of Hudson Road in the village community 
known as Lloyds. 



31 
 

adjacent or intersecting roads including Pine, Locust, Cedar, Poplar, Academy, Gay, Muir and Mill 
streets.  The principal location of the town’s market and business center had shifted from its 18th-
century location around the courthouse to lots to the south and southwest on High and Race streets 
as well as lots along Poplar, Gay, Academy, Muir and Muse streets down to the creek shoreline.   
During the period the name of Market Street, on the north side of the public square, was changed to 
Court Lane, where a new generation of single-story professional doctors’ and law offices was 
located.   
 
 Across from the Dorchester County Courthouse, on the north side of High Street, the 
former frame house built by Elizabeth Caile around 1785 was the focus of a significant rebuilding 
program under the ownership of Josiah Bayly and his son Alexander Hamilton Bayly, during the 
second and third quarters of the 19th century.     

 

 
Figure 26, Bayly House, southeast elevation, Cambridge, Paul  
B. Touart, photographer, 12.7.2018. 
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Figure 27, Bayly House, northwest elevation, Cambridge, Paul B. Touart, photographer, 8.2018. 

  
 The Caile house and property received a substantial reinvestment following the acquisition 
of the property by Maryland Attorney General Josiah Bayly, who lived next door.  Josiah Bayly 
purchased the real estate of Charles K. Bryan, who owned the Caile house as well as the two-story 
brick dwelling he built across the street around 1811.  Within a handful of years following his 
purchase of the Caile house, Bayly financed the construction of a two-story, part brick, part frame 
kitchen to the rear and joined it to an existing horizontal log smokehouse.37  The house was 
upgraded with a two-story porch across its front and new beaded weatherboards on its southwest 
and northwest elevations during the second quarter of the 19th century.  Inside, the first and second 
floor interiors were refitted with Greek-inspired woodwork while maintaining the decorated 18th-
century Federal staircase.  The improvements to the house and outbuildings were made during the 
period when Josiah Bayly’s son, Alexander Hamilton Bayly, graduated from the University of  
Maryland Medical School in March 1835 and married Delia Byus Eccleston.  Alexander H. Bayly 
inherited the house and large property between High and Mill streets after Josiah Bayly’s death in 
1846.  Within the following decade, Alexander Hamilton Bayly enlarged the house with a two-story 
brick addition to the northeast that served to connect the formerly detached kitchen, thereby 
improving significantly the domestic function of the house.   
 
 At mid-century, Cambridge was a developing, slowly growing county seat of approximately 
300 white residents and several hundred free and enslaved blacks on the south side of the Choptank 
and west bank of Cambridge Creek. A short description of the town stated 
 
  Cambridge, co[ounty] and p. o., Dorchester co., Situate on the s. side of Choptank 
  r., which is two miles wide, 12 m. from Chesapeake Bay…It contains a court-house, 

 
37 Michael J. Worthington and Jane I. Seiter, “The Tree-Ring Dating of the Bayly House and Outbuildings, Cambridge, Maryland,” 
Oxford Tree-Ring Laboratory, Baltimore, 11.2018. 



33 
 

  county jail, an academy, three churches, and some fine houses.  Two weekly news- 
  papers are published here.  Distant 61 m. s. of Annapolis, and 101 s.e. of   
    Washington. Pop. 300.38  
 
  
 The county seat had grown to the south and west since the late 18th century and a plat of  the 
town drawn in 1853 depicts the gridwork streets and lanes aligned along in parallel to the principal 
avenues of  High and Race streets, both of  which intersected Washington Street at the south end of  
the county seat that crossed a narrow tributary of  Cambridge Creek.  Identified on the plat are 
several surrounding plantations; Oakley on the northwest, Peach Blossom and Springfield on small 
peninsulas framed by tributaries of  Cambridge Creek and the Appleby on very southern perimeter 
with a named “Appleby Street” leading to the plantation complex39 (See Figure 28).  
 
 The plat also shows the northwest elevation of the recently built Dorchester County 
Courthouse, which replaced the 1770s courthouse destroyed by fire in May 1852.40  The Easton 
Gazette announced on May 15, 1852, reprinting an article that had appeared in the Cambridge 
Demorcat: 
 
 
 
        Two Fires in Cambridge—Great Loss of Property—Our citizens were thrown into 
  Confusion on Friday night last about 9 o’clock, at the alarm of  fire, which proved to    
  be the carpenter’s shop of  Wm H. Allen and the Grocery Store of  Lewis Ross &    
  Sons., which joined each other—The shop was first fired and it communicated the flames to the   
  Store house, which burned them both entirely to the ground.  There were about $300 worth of tools   
  in the shop and a quantity of groceries and corn in the store (that they could not get out), were   
  destroyed.  Whole loss supposed to be about $2,500. 
   Again on Sunday morning last, the alarm of fire was given which proved to be the Court   
  House; it was discovered about 8 o’clock A.M., and the Register’s office was nearly burned out   
  when first seen, and in a short while the whole building was wrapped in flames, in spite of efforts 
  of the firemen and citizens generally.  Nothing was saved we believe, but the contents of the Clerk’s  
  office, which was the last room that caught. 
   Thus the citizens of Dorchester county have been deprived of their court house, all their   
  records & c. in the Register’s office, the commissioner’s office, & c., by some black-hearted villain 
  or villains, who deserve every punishment the law provides for in such cases, should be found out.  

 
38 R. S. Fisher, M.D., Gazetteer of the State of Maryland, compiled from the Returns of the Seventh Census of the United States, and 

Other Official Documents., Baltimore: James S. Waters, 1852., p. 59. 
39 Plat of the City of Cambridge, 1853, Maryland State Archives. 
40 Easton Gazette, May 15, 1852. 
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          Figure 28, Plat of the City of Cambridge with principal elevation drawing of the  
  1852-54 Dorchester County Courthouse, Maryland State Archives. 
 

 New York architect Richard Upjohn provided the design for the new Dorchester County 
courthouse in a newly popular asymmetrical design sweeping the nation for large and small public 
and private building projects.  The Italian style as it was known, was described in architectural 
pattern books circulating throughout the country during the period.  William H. Allen, who lost his 
carpenter’s shop and tools that May, advertised months later.  Printed in the Easton Gazette on July 
17, 1852 he stated:  
                  
                                                        William H. Allen  
                                              ARCHITECT AND BUILDER 
                                                         Cambridge, Md. 
                                          Will contract for, or superintend, the erection 
                            of Public Buildings of all grades, from plain  
                                          Cottages to elaborate and ornamental Villas, in 
                                          the most approved styles of rural architecture.41 

 
41 Easton Gazette, July 17, 1852. 
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 Builder William H. Allen was involved in the construction of the new Italian style 
courthouse, and his advertisement reflects the mid-century movement to new forms of ornamental 
designs in rural architecture that were influencing the entire nation.   
 
 The third quarter of the 19th century was an architectural period that focused on the 
romanticism of the past, reflected in a variety of revivalist styles that re-invented ancient building 
forms and features in new ways.  The asymmetrical towers rising on the principal corners of the new 
courthouse flanked a recessed arcaded entrance of round arched openings, and round headed arches 
topped each of the window openings.   
 
 Concurrent with the Italianate style of the new courthouse and other Italianate dwellings in 
Dorchester County was the Gothic Revival, which borrowed design elements and forms from the 
Gothic cathedrals of Europe and were infused in a new generation of  churches built during the 
second, third and fourth quarters of the nineteenth century.  Built in large and small scale 
interpretations, one of the earliest expressions of the Gothic influence in rural church architecture in 
Dorchester County is St. John’s P. E. Church (D-253), built in the Neck District in 1852-53.    
 

 
Figure 29, St. John’s P. E. Church, Cornersville vicinity, Paul B. Touart, photographer, 6.18.2018. 
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Figure 30, St. John’s P. E. Church, Cornersville vicinity, Paul B. Touart, photographer, 6.18.2018. 

 
 The single-story, rectangular frame church survives as one of the best-preserved Gothic 
Revival-influenced buildings with a steeply pitched gable roof supported by an exposed scissors 
truss roof frame.  The exposed interior framing members are decorated with chamfered edges and 
tapered stops.  Pointed arch window and transomed door openings are fitted with clear glass sash 
and transom lights. The blocks of slip pews on each side of the center aisle have recessed pointed 
arch panels.    
 
 Other congregations in the Neck District were rebuilding their churches and meeting houses 
during the middle decades of the 19th century. East of St. John’s Church, on the opposite side of the 
village of Cornersville, stands the Beckwith United Methodist Church (D-252), a congregation that 
was formed in the Neck District during the late 18th century.  When contemplating building a new 
church during the early 1850s, the congregation decided to relocate to a new site on land known as  
“Indian Range” on the north side of the main road traversing the neck.  The congregation financed 
a single-story, gable-front Greek Revival frame church, incorporating a gallery for slaves.  A service 
was held on Christmas day 1853 with a notice alerting the public to its dedication several weeks 
before.42  The newspaper advertisement announced: 
 
   DEDICATION.  The new church edifice at “Beckwith’s” 
                                    will be (by Divine Permission) dedicated to the worship 
                         of Almighty God, on Christmas day, inst.  Services to  
                                    commence at 10 ½ o’clock, A.M.  The ministers, members 

 
42 Dorchester County newspaper clipping in research file at Beckwith’s United Methodist Church, 12.14.1853. 
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                                    and friends of the Methodist E. Church are respectfully invited 
                                    to attend. 
    In behalf of the trustees and building committee.  
 
                                                                                              VAUGHN SMITH 
                                                                                              JEREMIAH PASTORFIELD 
                                                                                              Dec. 14, 1853. 
 

                      
                      Figure 31, Beckwith’s United Methodist Church, sanctuary with Greek Revival altar  
                      entablature finished with marbled paint, Paul B. Touart, photographer, 7.30.2018. 

 

                       
                        Figure 32, Beckwith’s U. M. Church, 
                        Marbling detail, Paul B. Touart, photographer, 7.30.2018. 
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 While the St. John’s Episcopal and Beckwith Methodist congregations were erecting new 
churches and meeting houses in the Neck District, plans were being made farther afield to revive a 
dormant effort to provide railroad service to the peninsula.  In 1852-53, the State of Delaware and 
the Philadelphia, Wilmington, and Baltimore Railroad combined interest and capital to reinvigorate 
the Delaware Railroad plan to extend a line down the spine of the state, ultimately reaching the tip 
of the peninsula in Northampton County, Virginia.43  Construction south of Wilmington through 
New Castle County was slowed due to right-of-way conflicts, but by August 1855, the line had 
reached Middletown and less than a year later the state capital at Dover.  By the end of 1856 the 
Delaware Railroad had reached the banks of the Nanticoke River at Seaford, but another three 
years would pass before it reached the Maryland/Delaware border at a new place named Delmar. 
Since the newly created railroad town straddled the boundary of the two states, the first syllable of 
Delaware was married to the first syllable of Maryland.  With the immense capital expenditure 
completing the Delaware Railroad down its entire length, the Eastern Shore Railroad plan to extend 
the line to the Annemessex and the rich oyster beds of Tangier Sound was revived.  In 1859-60, the 
line was built to the edge of Humphrey’s Lake in Salisbury in Somerset County, however any 
further construction was stalled due to the outbreak of the Civil War in April 1861.   
 
 Following the cessation of war four years later in April 1865, efforts were restarted to extend 
the Eastern Shore Railroad to the banks of the Annemessex, which was accomplished by the 
summer of 1866.  Meanwhile, planning and fund-raising were underway elsewhere on the peninsula 
to connect to the Delaware Railroad for the economic benefits it would realize.  In Dorchester 
County, W. Wilson Byrn, a transplanted businessman from Baltimore, served as the president of the 
newly created Dorchester & Delaware Railroad, incorporated in January 1866.  Within a few years 
the railroad stretched from the east bank of Cambridge Creek to Seaford, Delaware, thereby linking 
Dorchester County’s population and commerce to the peninsular railroad extending to Wilmington, 
Philadelphia, Baltimore and beyond.  In anticipation of the laying of the Dorchester & Delaware, a 
celebratory event was held in Cambridge on October 23, 1867.  A correspondent from the 
Baltimore Sun wrote of the celebration: 
 
 The formal opening of the Dorchester and Delaware Railroad took place to-day, and was witnessed by an 
 immense body of people from all sections of the county.  There were probably 4,000 persons present at the 
 turning of the sod, which was accomplished by his Excellency Governor Swann, and W. Wilson Byrn, Esq.,
 the president of the road. 
  All the morning crowds came in from the surrounding country, and by 12 o’clock High street 
 presented a living mass of human beings. The arrangements were perfect, and a procession, nearly one mile in 
 length, was formed. The Masonic Lodge of this place, the Odd-Fellows, Sons of Temperance, and the 
 cadets of the Military Academy, with the corps of engineers, pioneers, civil officers of the county and town, 
 clergyman and citizens were at the wharf to receive his excellency the Governor and the delegation from 
 Baltimore…The march was then commenced to the proposed terminus of the road, where ceremonies were to 
 take place.  Music was furnished by Mr. A. Itzel’s Baltimore Band, and the Cornet band of  
 Cambridge…W. Wilson Byrn, Esq. then made a few remarks, in which he gave a history of the first 
 inception of the road, and stated its future prospects… 
 
 

 
43 John C. Hayman, Rails Along the Chesapeake: A History of Railroading on the Delmarva Peninsula, 1827-1978. 
Marvadel Publishers, 1979, pp. 19-31. 
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Governor Thomas Swann gave a short address to the assembled crowd on Cambridge Creek, 
alluding to the tremendous rewards that would come when “the locomotive, with its train of cars, 
should arrive on the spot he then stood.”44 
 

                  
                                          Figure 33, Cambridge, 1877, Lake, Griffing  
      and Stevenson, Atlas of Talbot & Dorchester Counties. 

 
The Dorchester & Delaware Railroad was completed in mid-1869,45 and four years later, in 1873, 
navigability on Cambridge Creek was improved greatly with a federal government project entitled 
the Cambridge Harbor Internal Improvement Company.  A deepening of the harbor with a railroad 
connection spurred development on every possible compass point in the quarter century that 
followed.  Another Baltimore Sun correspondent visited Cambridge in 1877 and reported on the 
changes that had recently occurred as a result of the internal improvements: 
 
 On the east side of the creek a considerable town known as East Cambridge has come into existence with the 
 establishment of the railroad and the deepening of the harbor.  Messrs. J. W. Crowell & Co. have a 
 shipyard, marine railway and a sawmill, the later burned a short while ago but is being rebuilt.  When the 
 Dorchester and Delaware Railroad was begun only one house stood on the ground now occupied by East 
 Cambridge, which has been laid off in streets and building lots with many improvements already made and 
 other building in process.46 
 

 
44 The Baltimore Sun, October 25, 1867. 
45 The Baltimore Sun, February 5, 1869, The newspaper reported, “The laying of the rails on the Dorchester and 
Delaware railroad has been resumed, and there is every prospect that matters will progress.  Iron sufficient to lay about three miles 
of track has arrived, and the workmen are pushing things about eleven miles from Cambridge.  The road is all graded, we believe, 
and the bridges built.” 
46 The Baltimore Sun, May 1, 1877.   
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 With the task of describing Cambridge for The Maryland Directory, publisher J. Frank Lewis & 
Co. printed in 1878: 
 
 At present day no town on the Peninsula is making more rapid growth.  Its population has increased fifty per 
 cent within the last eight years.  It is lighted with gas, and mainly supplied with water from pumps, wells, and 
 cisterns. Its mechanics find work at remunerative wages.  Upwards of three hundred houses have been erected 
 during the past five years.  Enterprizes (sic) of  different kinds have sprung up, stimulated in no doubt by the 
 excellent facilities of transportation to Philadelphia, distant only 140 miles by railroad, over which daily 
 trains are passing; and to Baltimore, distant about 70 miles, to and from which are daily lines of  handsome 
 and commodious steamers. 
  The oyster trade is considerable, both canning and shipments in their natural state.  Four packing-
 houses are in active operation, while others at this writing but projected will soon increase the number.  The 
 largest and most complete flour mill on the Eastern Shore has just been completed.  A marine railway gives 
 employment to many…Numerous saw-mills are busily engaged in converting the choice lumber of the 
 surrounding neighborhood into good and merchantable lumber.47 
 
 Steam powered mills, likely equipped with circular saws, produced uniformly dimension 
lumber, lath and other building parts that were employed in the construction of  a new generation of  
frame dwellings, outbuildings, commercial blocks and other structures throughout Cambridge and 
the rest of  Dorchester County during the fourth quarter of the 19th century.  Heading northwest 
beyond the limits of  mid-19th century Cambridge, Locust Street was extended with new building lots 
on which a range of  new dwellings were erected from large Queen Anne and Eastlake-influenced 
houses to more modest two-story, two- or three-bay gable-front dwellings to those with 
asymmetrical plans and decorated eaves and porches.  By the late 19th century most houses in 
Cambridge were assembled with attached service wings that extended to the rear. 
 
 In August 1891, undertaker James Willis purchased a lot on the southwest side of  Locust 
Street extended and financed construction of a two-story, ell-shaped dwelling featuring a two-story 
projecting pavilion, turned post front porch with sawnwork trimmed cornice and sidelighted front 
entrance (See Figure 34). 
 

 
Figure 34, James Willis House (D-469), Cambridge, 
Northeast elevation, Paul B. Touart, photographer, 1.2019. 

 

 
47 The Maryland Directory, Baltimore: J. Frank Lewis & Co., 1878, pp. 235-260. 
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            At the same time, plans were in the making to transform the 18th-century house known as 
Appleby (D-130) for more than a century, into a palatial Queen Anne-inspired villa residence set on 
a 220-acre agricultural estate south of  town.  Redesigned and rebuilt on the occasion of the marriage 
of Luisa Barton and Guy L. Bryan, the brick-ended frame dwelling was restyled with asymmetrical 
corner towers, single- and two-story porches along with an attached service wing to the rear. 
 

 
Figure 35, D-130, Appleby, documentary photograph, c. 1900-10, Collection of the Dorchester County  
Historical Society. 

 

 
Figure 36, Appleby, Cambridge, northwest elevation, Paul B. Touart,  
photographer, 12.2018. 
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 The new construction and rebuilding of older housing stock in Dorchester during the 
second half of the 19th century was repeated across the entire lower Shore, particularly after the 
railroad system was overlaid on the peninsular landscape in several stages between the 1860s and the 
1890s.  The new city of Crisfield boomed in development at the southern tip of the Eastern Shore 
Railroad, and the new railroad and steamboat schedules eased transport of seafood and agricultural 
products throughout the peninsula to urban markets.  Even remote places such as Elliott’s Island in 
Dorchester and the Mt. Vernon peninsula or Smith’s Island in Somerset, experienced new-found 
capital to replace or upgrade buildings erected by the previous generations.   
 
 On Elliott’s Island, the watermen and farmers harvested oysters and grew crops that 
financed a new group of dwellings on high ground along the shorelines or on upland stretches 
surrounded by fields.  A two-story, two-part frame farmhouse known as Elliott’s Field was erected 
in a central location on Elliott’s Island around 1870-80.  An exterior brick chimney assembled with a  
 

   
Figure 37, Elliott’s Field (D-656-3), Elliott’s Island,  
southwest elevation, Paul B. Touart, photographer, 5.2018. 

 
corbelled base defines the west gable end, and an interior brick stack rises through the roof of the 
lateral story-and-half, two-room plan wing. Plainly finished, the two sections are lighted by six-over-
six sash windows fitted with louvered shutters. Another house on Elliott’s Island, known as Gate 
Point facing Fishing Bay, was erected during the third quarter of the 19th century and features 
exterior, corbelled base chimney stacks finished with decorated caps.  Gate Point is situated on the  
 

 
Figure 38, Gate Point (D-852), Elliott’s Island, 
Southeast elevation, Paul B. Touart, photographer, 5.2018. 
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Figure 39, Elliott’s Island, Lake, Griffing, and Stevenson, 1877. 

 
north shore of the island on the east side of Elliott Creek and is designated under the ownership of  
Jehu Elliott.  Elliott Field is centrally located on the island on the west side of Elliott Creek under 
the tenure of Elias Elliott during the fourth quarter of the 19th century.  Near the Elliott Field farm 
is the Elliott Methodist Episcopal church, a congregation that was established by island residents 
during the mid-19th century.  In 1891-92, the Methodist membership financed the construction of a 
new Gothic Revival frame structure distinguished by a tall entrance and bell tower topped by a 
broach spire.  Trimmed with Victorian brackets, decorative sawnwork, and patterned fishscale 
shingles, the sanctuary is lighted by tripartite and single Gothic arched colored glass windows.  The 
church was severely damaged by fire during the early 20th century and the front section of the 
building was evidently saved and reused when the church was rebuilt in 1904-05. 



44 
 

 

  
Figure 40, Elliott M. E. Church, Elliott’s Island, southwest  
elevation, Paul B. Touart, photographer, 5.2018. 
 

 
Figure 41, Elliott M. E. Church, Elliott’s  
Island, southeast elevation of tower, Paul B. 
Touart, photographer, 5.2018. 
 
 Likewise, the communities on the Mt. Vernon peninsula and on Smith Island in Somerset 
County used the profits from seafood and farming to rebuild or replace the previous generation of  
houses, churches, schools and other support buildings.  Perched atop a sandy knoll at the west end 
of the Hungary Neck peninsula, the residents of  Mt. Vernon  organized a Methodist Episcopal 
congregation around 1870 when early trustee’s minutes record plans to erect a single-story 40’ by 30’ 
frame meeting house lighted by nine-over-nine sash windows on each side.  The meeting house-style 
building served the congregation for twenty-five years. In 1896-97 the members raised funds to 
build a stylish Gothic-inspired frame church on the same site (See Figure 42).   The sanctuary, 
lighted by Gothic arched colored glass windows, features tongue-and-groove beaded board ceilings 
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Figure 42, Asbury M. E. Church, documentary  
photograph c. 1910, Collection of the Asbury  
United Methodist Church congregation. 
 

 
Figure 43, Asbury M. E. Church, interior, decorated roof 
trusses with iron tie rods, Paul B. Touart, photographer, 2.2018. 
 

ceilings and decorated yellow pine trusses pierced by quatrefoil-shaped cut outs.  
 
 Three churches on Smith Island dating to the period between the late 19th and early to mid-
20th century and were designed with Gothic Revival and Colonial Revival stylistic features. The 
Union M. E. Church (S-536-8) in the village of Tylerton was built during the early 20th century on a 
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raised rusticated block foundation, and the congregation salvaged materials from an 1896 church 
that stood in a nearby village called, “The Pines.” Reflective of the Colonial Revival influence of the 
early 20th century are the large colossal Tuscan columns that flank a large sanctuary window fixed 
under a decorated gable roof pediment trimmed with Victorian sawnwork.  Three story towers rise 
on each corner and contain staircases that provide access to the sanctuary.   
 

  
Figure 44, Union M. E. Church, Tylerton, northeast elevation, Paul B. Touart,  
photographer, 2018. 
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 In the community of Rhodes Point, the Calvary M. E. Church stands with its full front 
facing Chesapeake Bay.  The ell-shaped frame church, built in 1921, features a corner entrance and 
bell tower marked by a pointed arch entrance and pointed arch colored glass window (See Figure 
45).   
  

 
Figure 45, Calvary M. E. Church, Rhodes Point, Smith Island, south- 
west elevation, Paul B. Touart, photographer, 2018. 
  
 Likewise, the Ewell Methodist Church, built much later in 1939-40, was designed with 
Gothic Revival windows that mark each elevation.  The church, raised on an elevated rusticated 
block foundation, is accented by a Colonial Revival, gable roofed frontispiece that shelters a 
tripartite series of pointed arch, colored glass windows. Rising atop the church is a squat broach 
spire defined by pointed arch louvered vents (See Figure 46). 
 

  
Figure 46, Ewell United Methodist Church, southeast elevation, Paul B.  
Touart, photographer, 2018.  
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 Tuscan order columns were widely used across the lower Eastern Shore in various contexts 
such as these Smith Island churches or various applications in domestic building during the first and 
second quarters of the 20th century.  In Dorchester County, the 2 ½-story, nine-bay, single-pile 
frame dwelling that stands on Todd Point has a single-story Tuscan columned porch that stretches 
across its long front and wraps around each side and even to the rear elevation.  Built around 1915, 
the frame dwelling has center hall plan and subtle touches of the Gothic Revival in the pointed arch 
windows that pierce the center cross gable and the gable ends (See Figure 47).   

 

 
Figure 47, Sarke Plantation, southwest elevation, Paul  
B. Touart, photographer, 2018. 
 
 Tuscan half columns were employed in a different way on the William O. Murray house (See 
Figure 48) that stands on the south side of Mt. Vernon Road in Somerset County. According to 
family history, the house was started in 1929, but due to the Stock Market crash, was not finished 
until several years later.  Plain Tuscan columns were often used in the construction of various 
bungalow forms, and the Murray house features a gable-front principal street elevation with paired 
Tuscan half-columns rising from a knee wall supporting the gable roof over the engaged porch.   

 

 
Figure 48, Murray House, north elevation, Mt. Vernon, Paul B. Touart,  
photographer, 2018. 
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 A wide variety of bungalow style houses populated the lower Shore counties during the first 
and second quarters of the 20th century, but the Stock Market failure and attendant depression 
during the 1930s resulted in a general decline in construction throughout the region. The population 
of lower Shore counties, reaching a high in the 1930, showed marked declines in the decades that 
followed as the economies of the rural communities were strained.  Many families relocated to urban 
areas in search of better paying jobs during the years leading up to World War II.  Only after the 
close of the war, did construction resume across the lower Eastern Shore, marked by the widespread 
embrace of the single-story ranch style house as well as a wave of Colonial inspired building.  Both 
styles have dominated local domestic construction for the past sixty years.     
 
 Concurrent with a surge in post-World War II construction across the lower Shore, there 
were private and public efforts to restore and revive the region’s historic building stock, inspired in 
part by nationally publicized restorations of places like Williamsburg, Virginia and Monticello and 
other singular buildings Chesapeake region and beyond.  Locally, major restorations and adaptive 
reuse projects revitalized historic buildings and districts in the four county lower Shore.   
  
 Lately, however, there have been major events such as the “Great Recession” of 2008 and 
Hurricane Sandy in 2012 that have contributed to an uneven preservation history in Dorchester and 
Somerset County.  Expenses associated with restoring historic buildings have caused much deferred 
maintenance on buildings, particularly frame structures in town and rural settings that no longer suit 
modern trends in living spaces without radical changes.  Efforts to document many of these 
buildings through the state-funded Threatened Sites Survey serves as a means to record these 
buildings before they disappear from the landscape.   
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RESULTS OF FIELD INVESTIGATIONS 
 
The field research for the Lower Eastern Shore Threatened Sites Survey was conducted without any 
constraints of the principal investigator, and the conditions were generally positive in the form of  cold call 
interviews on rural sites. Several sites were visited over the course of the project; most notably the Bayly 
House (D-10) and Appleby (D-130) in Cambridge.  Of the fifty (50) sites included in this wave of fieldwork, 
there were two sites dating to the 18th century; Appleby, with an original date of 1750-70 was extensively 
modified, and the Bayly house with its original date c. 1785 recorded through dendrochronological research. 
One property, Black Walnut Point (S-536-6) on Smith Island in Somerset County, is defined by a first 
quarter of the 19th century side hall/parlor plan frame dwelling that was enlarged during the mid-19th 
century.  Five (5) inventoried properties in Dorchester County are improved by structures dating to the 
second quarter of the 19th century including: North Yarmouth farm (D-857), Wrightson-Spedden farm (D-
73), Samuel Conner house (D-64), Hill’s Point (D-853), and the Brick house farm (D-856).  The third 
quarter of the 19th century included twenty-four (24) structures located in Somerset and Dorchester 
counties. Eighteen (18) of the inventoried sites in Somerset and Dorchester County date to the early to mid-
20th century.   
    
 As described in the research design, the principal focus of the survey included the Neck District and 
Elliott’s Island in Dorchester County.  In Somerset the Mt. Vernon peninsula and Smith Island were the 
targeted places.  In Dorchester County, thirteen (13) sites previously on the inventory were re-visited and 
the forms and documentation were expanded significantly.  The Bayly House and Appleby were given an 
extraordinary amount of attention due to the complexity of each of these properties.  Thirteen (13) new sites 
were added to the Dorchester County inventory.   
 
 In Somerset County, all twenty-four (24) sites were newly introduced to the Maryland Inventory of 
Historic Properties with thirteen (13) sites on Smith Island and ten (10) sites located on the Mt. Vernon 
peninsula.   
 
 In the process of fabric analysis and historical research, more comprehensive forms were assembled 
to detail each property.  The research on the Bayly property in Cambridge was aided by a concurrent project 
executed by Dennis J. Pogue and assistance of Douglas Sanford, who researched and documented the 
single-story frame outbuilding in the backyard.  Funded by the Maryland Department of Transportation, the 
project also included dendrochronological investigations by Michael J. Worthington and Jane I. Seiter in a 
report entitled, The Tree-Ring Dating of the Bayly House and Outbuildings, Cambridge, Maryland (2018).  In addition 
to dating framing members of the outbuilding, dendrochronological evaluations were done on the main 
house and its subordinate service wing. 
 
 While survey was conducted in the Neck District, the region contains other structures worthy of 
investigations that due to time limitations were not included in this phase of the re-survey of Dorchester 
County.   
 
-Acreages Surveyed, Dorchester County   1221.24 acres 
                                   Somerset County        100.20 acres  
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DORCHESTER COUNTY 
 

1. D-10, Bayly House, 207 High Street, Cambridge 
2. D-52A, Castle Haven School, 1663 Hudson Road, Cambridge vicinity 
3. D-64, Samuel Corner House, 1273 Hudson Road, Cornersville 
4. D-69, Sarke Plantation, 6033 Todd Point Road, Hudson vicinity 
5. D-73, Wrightson-Spedden Farm, 933 Hudson Road, Hudson vicinity 
6. D-130, Appleby, 315-17 East Appleby Street, Cambridge 
7. D-252, Beckwith Methodist Episcopal Church, 1328 Hudson Road, Cambridge vicinity 
8. D-253, St. John’s P. E. Church, 1211 Hudson Road, Cornersville vicinity 
9. D-255, Spedden Methodist Episcopal Church, 881 Hudson Road, Hudson vicinity 
10. D-469, James Willis House, 814 Locust Street, Cambridge 
11. D-488, Warren Hooper House, 1003 Locust Street, Cambridge 
12. D-580, Alice Elizabeth Phillips House, 317 Oakley Street, Cambridge 
13. D-617, Elliott Methodist Episcopal Church, 2310 Elliott Island Road, Elliott’s Island 
14. D-656-1, Ernest Gray House, 2335 Elliott Island Road, Elliott’s Island 
15. D-656-2, Harrison’s Upper Store, 2326 Elliott Island Road, Elliott’s Island 
16. D-656-3, Elliott’s Field, 2353 Elliott Island Road, Elliott’s Island 
17. D-699-2, Thomas C. Eaton House, 321 West End Avenue, Cambridge 
18. D-852, Jehu Elliott House, 2429 Elliott Island Road, Elliott’s Island 
19. D-853, Hill’s Point Farmhouse, 5609 Condon Road, Hudson vicinity 
20. D-854, Neck District Schoolhouse, 1344 Hudson Road, Cambridge vicinity 
21. D-855, Lewis Store, 1042 Hudson Road, Hudson 
22. D-856, Brick House Farm, 4241 Ocean Gateway, Linkwood vicinity 
23. D-857, North Yarmouth Farm, 4892 Drawbridge Road, Linkwood vicinity 
24. D-858, Beckwith’s Resolution, 1306 Hudson Road, Cornersville vicinity 
25. D-859, Wilcox-Cook House and Store, 1265 Hudson Road, Cornersville 
26. D-860, William. L. Wright House and Neck District Spotting House, Hudson Rd., Hudson vicinity 

 
SOMERSET COUNTY 
 

27. S-536-1, Ewell United Methodist Church, 20863 Caleb Jones Road, Ewell, Smith Island 
28. S-536-2, Evans’ Store, 20906 Caleb Jones Road, Ewell, Smith Island 
29. S-536-3, Thomas Tyler House, 3991 Smith Island Road, Ewell, Smith Island 
30. S-536-4, Calvary M. E. Church, 3303 Marsh Road, Rhodes Point, Smith Island 
31. S-536-5, Priscilla Bradshaw House, 3357 Marsh Road, Rhodes Point, Smith Island 
32. S-536-6, Black Walnut Point, 21152 Marshall Street, Tylerton, Smith Island 
33. S-536-7, Peter J. Marshall House, 3054 Union Chruch Road, Tylerton, Smith Island 
34. S-536-8, Union M. E. Church, 3040 Union Church Road, Tylerton, Smith Island 
35. S-536-9, John Thomas Marshall House, 3029 Union Church Road, Tylerton, Smith Island 
36. S-536-10, Thomas Bradshaw House, 21117 Tuff Street, Tylerton, Smith Island 
37. S-536-11, Eddie Evans House, 2065 Union Church Road, Tylerton, Smith Island 
38. S-536-12, Charles O. Foster House, 21148 Tuff Street, Tylerton, Smith Island 
39. S-536-13, Benson W. Marsh House, 21159 Marshall Street, Tylerton, Smith Island 
40. S-536-14, William S. Bradshaw House, 2975 Tylerton Road, Tylerton, Smith Island 
41. S-537, Asbury Methodist Episcopal Church, 26556 Mt. Vernon Road, Mt. Vernon 
42. S-538, Van Buren’s Store, 13624 Fitzbound Road, Mt. Vernon vicinity 
43. S-539, John B. Horner House, 25898 Mt. Vernon Road, Mt. Vernon vicinity 
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44. S-540, John H. Parks House, 26170 Mt. Vernon Road, Mt. Vernon vicinity 
45. S-541, Stephen A. Hopkins House, 26244 Mt. Vernon Road, Mt. Vernon vicinity 
46. S-542, Victor Webster House, 26490 Mt. Vernon Road, Mt. Vernon vicinity 
47. S-543, Samuel Street House, 27213 Mt. Vernon Road, Mt. Vernon vicinity 
48. S-544, William O. Murray House, 26773 Mt. Vernon Road, Mt. Vernon 
49. S-545, William O. Murray Store, 26781 Mt. Vernon Road, Mt. Vernon 
50. S-546, Joseph S. Webster House, 26518 Mt. Vernon Road, Mt. Vernon vicinity 

 
 

 
Figure 49, Cambridge, Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties site locations, 2018-19. 
 
 



56 
 

 
Figure 50, Neck District, Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties site locations, 2018-19. 
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Figure 51, Neck District, Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties site locations, 2018-19. 
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Figure 52, Elliott’s Island, Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties site  
locations, 2018-19. 
 

 
Figure 53, Salem District, Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties site locations,  
2018-19.   
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Figure 54, Smith Island, Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties site locations, 2018-19. 
 
 



60 
 

 

 
Figure 55, Hungary Neck District, Maryland Inventory of Historic Properties site locations, 2018-19. 
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CAPSULE SUMMARIES – DORCHESTER COUNTY 
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CAPSULE SUMMARIES-SOMERSET COUNTY 
 

 



109 
 

 
 
 
 



110 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



111 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



112 
 

 
 
 
 



113 
 

 
 
 
 



114 
 

 
 
 
 



115 
 

 
 
 
 



116 
 

 
 
 
 



117 
 

 
 
 
 



118 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



119 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



120 
 

 

 
 
 



121 
 

 
 
 
 



122 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



123 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



124 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



125 
 

 
 
 
 



126 
 

 
 
 
 



127 
 

 
 
 
 



128 
 

 
 
 
 


